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This 1is an cral history interview with Mr. Rosvell L. Gilpatric, held in

Fipnal Transeript - May 3, ]984

Mr. Gilpatric's offive in Naw York City on Novamber 14, 1983,

Matloff: It's very kind of you, sir, to let us come and seek out your
recollactions and observations of the years that you spent in Washington,
particularly in the office of Deputy Secratary of Defense, between January

1961 and Jemuary 1964. May X begin by asking about the background of

your appointsent? What do you recall were the circumetances and what

instructions, written or oral, were given to you and by whom?

Gilpatric: My associstion with President Kannedy had begun while I was

the Under Secretary of the Air Force in 1952. At that time Kennedy was

a congressmsn from Massachusetts, and he was runaing for the Senate. At
oue point, he asked my support, because wy superior, Mr. Finletter, was
supporting his opponeut, Senator Lodge. During the intarvening years,

that is to say, from 1953 to 1360, 1 saw Kennedy off and on in Connecticut,

where I helped manage the Stevenson/Kefauver campaign in 1956. In 1960 he

asked me to serve on two diffarent study groups-~—one involving the organi- |
zation of the Defense Department, and the cther regarding international
security affairs. So he knew about ma. I had come to his attention.
We were acquainted. I think that T was racommanded for the office to
which he appcintad me later by Senator Symington, who was the head of
the group studying the organization of the Defense Department, and also
by Robert Lovett, who had been Secretary of Defense durfug the Truman

administration.

Matloff: Do you racall whether the Prasident and/or the Secratary of i
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Defense gave you any specific instructions? Did they play any role in
orienting or guiding you ia the new post that you were to occupy?
Gillpatric: No. That was left entirely to Secretary McNamara and to me as
his deputy, without any particular guidance or instructions, We did kaep
in close touch with people like Mae Bundy at the White House, Ted Sorensen,
and othars, but we received no instruction or guidance specifically from
the Prasident. |

Matloff: Was your participation in the Symington Committee——the committee
that was toc come up with a plan for reorganizing the Defenss Departaent——
& handicap when you came up for confirmation?

Gilpatric: No. I was gquestioned about it. But I was able to say that
neither Fresident hnmdy nor Secretary McNamara agreed with the repere,
that I had acceptad their Judgment, and that, therefore, we were not going
to try to change the organizational structure of the Defense Department
by legislation,

Matloff: How important did you feel that your experience in the Air Force
as Asailstant and Deputy Secretary proved to be to your new position?
Gilpatric: It was extremely helpful, because it had been seven years
eariier, and many of the personalities in the Defense Dspartment were

men in uniform, particularly in the Alr Force; for example, Genersl

LeMay, and othsrs whom I had known well during my Air Force days, 1

think that my appointment caused some concern to the Havy, whose leaders
thought that I would bring an Air Force blas. I remember very well that

ADM Burke callad me up whea I first 80C uy quarters in the Pentagon and

———— e e e
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said that he would like to sppoint a naval aide for me. 1 said, "That's
fimm, Adairal,” and he replied, "I want to put in & Rear Admiral.” I
said, "I don't nesed t-hnt kind of raok,” but he responded, "I'd feel
better.” I said, "Whomever you pick, I'll accept.”
Matloff: Did sanything else in your background prove useful? You touched

on tha lochfelinr studies project that you were on in '5% and '57 as

- well.

Gilpatric: Yes. I had been very active in the segment of that study that
related to international security affairs. That was where I first got to
know Henry Kissinger, who was dirscting the study, And 1 had had various
exporianéen during World War II when I was temporarily called to Washington to.:
work with Secretary Porrestal’s office on naval ptocﬁnunt matters. So

I had followed fairly closely, not only during the Korean War but also
earlisr, developments in national security affairs.

Hatloff: What was your initial conception of your role as Deputy S8ecretary

of Defense?

Gilpatric: McNamars made it clear to me that he wanted me to be his

slter ego, that is to say, to be a deputy in the true sanse of the word.
Most things we did together, except for cabinet meetings, which obviously he
attended alone, and cartain subjects which he handled himself, particularly

calling on the chairmen of congressional committees and, of course, sone

of the spesaches he made expressing policy ss he saw it. But, by and
large, he and I worked as a team. 1 was the junior partnar. But, except

for tripes to Vietnam in the latter part of 1961, and in '62, and '63,
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on which I did not accompany him, I was involved in most things thet he was. J

Matloff: Do you recall whes you came back to Defense in 1961, after having |
been away about seven or eight years, had the problems changed? And if }
80, how did they change? Had the concerns become different in any way? l
Gilpatric: Of course, in ay earliar incarnstion, I had been on tha Aldr - l
Force Department lavel, and axcept for budgetsry matters and major policy )
issues that came up to the Office of the Secretary of Defeunse, I did not *
bhave day to day vunning contect with Secretary Lovett or, before that, _
with Geuneral Msrshall. But the system had also chauged in that under my ,
pradecessors, particularly Secretary Gates, thare had been a closar working l’
relationship between the civilian lesders of the Dafense Dapartment and :
the military, primarily over SIOP (the strategic integrated operating plsum),

and, in general, the office of the Secretary of Dafense had strengthened ]
its position as the dominant center of avthority in the Deafense Department,

with the service secretaries serving in a somewhat disinished role. '
Matloff: The 1958 reorganization act probably had something to do with that. f
Gilpatric: That's right. ]
Matloff: What problems did you face when you took over? What were the |
hot issues of the day? |
Gilpatric: Both McNamara snd I decided that our first order of business |
should be to lay out a listing of what we felt to be the major issues and
problems that we would face during the ensuing years of the Kenuady admin-
istration. I thought that I had an sdvantege in that regard because of

sy relatively recent tenure there. But when we came to compars our lists,
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I remember that I came up with something like 43 or 44 different issues,

projects, plsns, and the like, and MoNamara's list, although he was new

to the Defense Department after World War II, had sbout §5 projects,
inoluding most of mine. Ve ussd those like sgendas for our work. They
started out with such matiers as the size of the forces and whether we
nesded to restructure scme of the defense agencies. We had ipherited

the planning for the Defense Intelligence Agency, which we carried out,

and we put into effect the Defenas Supply Agency, which was also being
preparsd by our pradecessors.

Matloff: Did any matters take priority over others, as you recall?
Gilpatric: Yes, hecause when we came into office, on the top of the list
of international security matters, which President Eisenhower took up

with President Kennedy, was the situation in Laos. We were involved right
away in a mmber of discussions at the White House level and within the
Pentagon over what steps should be taken in Lacs. That was followed by

the Bay of Pigs crisis, for which the Kemnedy administration was very poorly
prepared. We imew very little about it, and, before we took office, McNamara |
and I learned very little from talidng with Allen Dulles, the head of the
CIA. The next problem wam Vietnax., I was named as the head of a task
force, early in March 1961, to sxamine all the facets of the mituation
in Yietnam and come up with recommendations to the President on what va
should do, in addition to what had already been dome by our predacessors.
Matloff: Almost from the very beginning, them, you were getting into

international aecurity problems.
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Gilpatric: Yes, those, coupled with the heating up of tensions in Berlin,
wers the range of probleas that ococupied most of our time.

Matloff: How did you sslect and organise your staff? Dia you have any
problema there? VWas thers any guidansce that you had in going adout that?
Gilpatric: In his talks with President-elect Kennedy before he agreed to
become Secretary of Defense, McNamara made it clear that he wanted to
have ﬁaa suthority or the power to designate hinm ﬁrinaipal aides. Kennedy
agreed. Indeed, with only one sxception that I'm familiar with, namely
Faul Fay, for whom we were aaked by Robert Kennedy to find s place in

the Defense Departnent, McNamera and I were given a completely free hand
by the Yhite House in ploking averybody, including Jehn Connally, who

was supposedly imposed on us by Vice President Johneon, but actuslly was
picked by McNamara himself,

¥atloff: May we conocentrate for a moment on the working relationships in
0SD-~first, the relations between the Secretary of Defenme and yourself.
Let me ask you, 414 you enjoy working with and for Mr. McNamara?
Gilpatric: Yes. We developed very aarly on, from tht' firast time we met in
Baltimore in December 1960, & very good rapport, ever though he was ten
yoars younger that I am. I am used to working as a profeasional in a
collegial relationship, as a partner, and I had 1o diffioulty accepting
his superior authority, even though he was younger than I was. Ve were
extremely close. We had breakfast several mornings & wesk very early,
because Mr. HocNamars liked to get in around 6:30 A.M. We had lunch

practically every day when one or the other of um wasa't otherwise engaged.
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Yo maw a good deal of each other socislly in the albdeit very short weekends
that we had together. So we bscans very close friends.

Matloff: I take it there were no major differences on matiers of policy

or administration between you?

Gilpatric: Ho. We managed to come out pretty much the same wvay. As T
said earlisr, I accepted the fact that neither Mr. McKamara nor President
Kennedy wanted to go to Congress with any legislation to change the
structure of the Defenss establishment. Indeed, by the end of xy tour
thers in January '64, I had come to the conclusmion that the prement
system, with separate service departments and their own sscretaries,
probably works as well as any eystem could, as long as the suthority of
the Secretary of Defense is clear and as long as the smsrvice secretaries
are olearly subordinate to the Secretary of Defense.

Matloff: As an alter ego, was thers any division of labor between You
and the Secretary of Defenpe?

Silpatric: In certaln areaa, I was given the primary Tesponsibility.

For example, in the relations with the CIA, I handled the day-to-day con-
tacts with John MeCone, whose place I had taken as Under Secretary of the
Air Porce in 1952, and whom I knew very well. I alao handled the day-to-
day relations with FASA, because Jim Webb aad I were old friends and

¥re HeNamara thought I was the ocne to handls that aspect. I also handled
protiy much oo my own the whole civil defense program, toward which Mr.
KcNamaras was not very sympathetic but which was a White House initiative,

largely run from there by Ted Sorensen. I was the one who arranged
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for Steuart Pittman to be Assistant Secretary of Defeass for Civil Defanse
and who watched over that srea. $0 those wers thres areas that were
assigned to me,

Matloff: How often did you meet with the Assistant Secretaries?
Gilpatric: Mr. McNasaras and I had s eeries of regular staff msatings.
First of all, we would meet with each of the ssrvice secrataries once a
week, Then we would hava seatings with people like Charlies Hitch, the
Comptroller, Tom Morris, who was Assistant Sacretary for Logistics, and
Harold_ntoun, who was Diractor of Dafense Rasearch and Enginsering.

Bach of those individusls with whatevar staff he chose to bring with him
would meet with Mr, McNamara and me on the average of one day & week.
Matloff: Touching on the service secretaries, did their role change at
#ll during the period when you were in the 0SD?

Gilpatric: Their role continued to diminish in the senge that they wers
primarily supply officers. They wers providing the forces to support the
Secretary of Defanse, the Joint Chiefs of Staff, and the various commands.
They did not gat brought into major policy issues. Mr. McNamars decidad
aarly on oot to use the Armed Forcea Policy Council, which I thipk convened

only s few times during tha three years that I was in office.

|
|

Matloff: X recall one incident, durfng the Berlin crisis, vhere Mr, McNamars

usad Secretary Connally to hsndle both the sea and the air transportation.
That's why I raised that question. It's rather unusual to call upon one
sarvice mecretary for planning for the use of tha resourcas of snothsr

service,
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Gilpatric: Both Secretary Counally and Secretary Zuckert were close to |

HcNamgra and he usad them in a variety of ways. He was not am close to

Elvig Stabr, the Secretary of the Army, who was replaced early on by
Cyrus Vance vho later succeeded me, when I lefr, |
Matloff: Hov about the relations with the Joint Chiefs of Staff? Did |
you meet vregularly with them? |
Gilpatric: We had a meeting, 1 believe, Monday efternoon fcsullrly, after
luneh, with the Jolnt Chiefs of Staff, at which both McNamara and I were in ,;
attendance. In addition to that, we had meetings several times s week, ;
often at lunch, with Genaral Taylor, after he became Chairman of the Joint |
Chiefs. In effect, we locked to the Joint Staff for many of the studies and ’
much of the work which we would have had our own staff do, 1f we had had i
cne, but McNamara early on decided that he didn't want & Secretary of thenuf
staff. Except for his assistant secretaries and for one assistant by the |
name of Adam Yarmolinsky, Mr. McNamara and I had no staff. We relied oun the
services, the Joint Chiefs, and the Joint Staff. f
Matloff: 1In thet connection, did you ever have any trouble getting
information from the Joint Chiafs? :
Gilpatric: The only instance I can recall where the Chiefs or their |
staff dragged their feet was on contingency plans. We wanted to see
the war plans, and we had a hell of a time getting accass to those.
Matloff: Did you get tham?
Gilpatric: We finally got them, but when we did, we found that thay were
so far out of date that they did not do us any good. We really didn't
feel very comfortable about the planming function and the Joint Chiefs.
\ 9
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Hatloff: low were you able to get them? This is a perennial question.
Gilpatric: ¥We originally asked cur nilifary aides to go downstairs to ;
the Office of the Joint Chiefs. When that did not produce any results, i
we brought 1t up with the Joint Chiefs themselves. Gsnsral Lemnitser, I
consciously or unconsciously, put us off. DBut when Ueneral Taylor took |
over as the Chairman, he and Gensral Brown, who was Director cof the

Joint Starf, saw to it that ve got the plans. |
Metloff: Was thers lems of & problem gestting information from the urvice-.j
12 you had to get it?

Gilpatric: We had mo problem with the services. |
Matloff: How close would you say that you and the SeoDef were to the JCS? l
Tou sald that there were regular meetings. ;
Gilpatric: Yes. It varled with the personalities. Ve never were pnrtieuln‘rly '
olose to Gen Decker, the Chiaf of Staff of the Army for & while. That was |

[
no fault of his. We were much closer %o "Bus™ Wheeler when hs becams

Chief of Staff of the Army.

Matloff: How about Lemnitser?

Gilpatric: Lemnitser and I developed a very close relationship. T don't ‘

think that KcNamara was quite as close. In the case of ADM Burke, both |
| Holanara and I had tremendous respsat for hs abilities. He was the hardest

working of the Chiefs. ¥e had cur problems, as you know, with ADM Andoracn,l
|

his successor. Ve got along very well with the Commandant of ths Marine ]
!
Corpe, and, of course, Gen Taylor was particularly cloees to both MoNamara

and mymalf.

10 i
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Katloff: Was there any problom when the JCS oame in with split views?

Did this present any great prodlem for the Seorstary of Defemse or youraalf?{

Gilpatric: Not oz the whole, because, particularly under Gen Tayloer, the
Chisfs cane to accept the fact that if they split, they were Just inviting
& takeover by the Sscretary of Defanse of acme of their prerogatives.

In the ocase of the man who differed most with the Sscretary of Defesnsne,
Gen LoMay, the Chief of Staff of the Air Force, he usually spoke his
plece and nade his position clear, whether it was to the Preaident, or to
HoNamara or myeelf, but then he went along. Of courss, ian some issues,
such as vhether or not the Chiefs would sndorse the partial test dan
trsaty, it took a lot of persumsion, a lot of arm twisting, to get the
Chiefs to go along. But in the end, in exchange for scme safaguards
which the Searetary of Defense and I agreod to vphold, we got wanimoua
support. Jo, once Gen Taylor came in, the 8plits were not as significant.
It is true that in the early days, during the crisis in Laos, the Chiefs
were split four or five ways. That was one of the reasons vhy President
Kennedy became =0 exasperated with having all the Chiefs come cver and
present their own views without any coordination or caucusing ahead of
tims. That stoppsd when Taylor came in as chairman.

Matloff: How about relations with the State Department, with Secretary of
State Rusk or anybody else with whom you dealt over there?

Gilpatric: On the whole we had a very good working relationship with our
opposifa munbers in State. It is true that before Chester Bowles became

'
i
4

)
|
I
i
i

ambassador tc Indim we had a few problems. We ssemed to Yo able in Dcfenna;

11
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!
i
|

d41d. Ve made that clear, and at times Seoretary Bowles, vho was ny oppoaitol
mupber, showed some irritation at that. But onge George Ball ook over f
a8 ay opposite number, he, Dean Rﬁak. Alexis Johnson, and Averell Harriman, j
end all the other Preasidential appointees in State end their opponits number

R - T

in Defsnse had a very good working relationship.
Hatloff: Hov about with the Whits House?p Did you have direot access, or dia
you have to go through the ¥SC Adviszor?

Gilpatric: The question of access was one of the most wmusual and, I
think, successful features of Johm P. Kennedy's presidency. He was a
great deliever in cne-to-one personal access, not only with the mezbars
of his cabinet, including, of course, the Secretary of Defense, but with

& pumber of others of us in Junior siticnas. President Kennedy would

call me oftentimes at home, at nmy office, or elsewhere. I osw hinm a

great deal. He used the same dirsct approach with others. The net

result was that 2ll of us in relatively high pomitions, and particularly

in the international security area, felt that we knew the Preaident,

}hnt he was thinking, and what he wanted. We cesrtainly had complete

access to take up with kim mny questions we had. We never were interfered

with by layers of staff assistants around him. That 214 not mean that

we did not work with them--as I said, with Ted Sorensen, Kenny O'Donnsll,

Larry 0'Brien, Kac Bundy, ¥Walt Roatow, or Carl Kaysen. But we had unimpaded

2cocess to the President any time and he reciprocated.

Matloff: What about relations with Congreas and appearances on the H1117?

Pid you find any partiocular problsas dealing with Congress or sensitivity |
12
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about any particular issues?

Gilpatric: First of all, Mr, McNamars and I developed & division of

labor. He would go to vimit the Chairman of the Senate Armed Sexvicas
Comnittee, Senator Russell, or Congressxan Vinsou, the Chairman of the
House Arned Services Committee, or their opposite numbers i{n the sppropria~

tions cycle, and I weuld handle the day-to—-day relations with the congras-

sional ataffs, which I found was very important. By working both smides
of the street in Athat way, we avolded any very severe clashes with the
Hill. There were differences, and there were tusues vhers we did uot
get vhat we wanted., I remember a particular case. We wanted some legis-

lation that in a small way would assist the Chairman of the Joiut Chiefs

of anf in being more effective. We wanted to permit him to have a

deputy who, if the Chairman was out in tha fileld traveling around the

world, could appear for him. When we brought that proposal up with the
Armed Services Cosmittees, they were not amenable to it. In the sape
W&y we opposed the limitation they wanted to put on the Presideat's
appointwent of members of the Joint Chiefs. We dido’t want that appoint-
ment to bs a fixed term. We felt that menmbers of the Joint Chiefs should

serve at the pleasure of the President, like the members of the Cabinet

and other presidential appoiutments. But Cougress didn't go along with

that desire and we just dropped it.

Matloff: Lat me turn to the question of perceptions of the threat facing
the United States. Do You recall your conception of the threat or threats to

the United States, when you took office as Deputy Secretary of Defense?

13
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Gilpatric: First of all, we were keenly aware of the gathering stora
over Berlin, becauss that issue had bsen wall publicized aud we had been

i
thoroughly briefed on it by Fepresentativas of Preaident Eisenhower. In i
the same way, we ware prepared to deal with the problams that were arising ‘
1
|

in Laos, and, to a lesser degree, in the sttuation in Cuba. What cama i
as & surprise to us initizlly was the worsening political situation fn i
Vietnam. Those four arsas of the globe were the trouble spots with ?
which we vere pr-occupied in the early days of the administration. |

i

Matlioff: Were there any diffsrences of views with the JCS on the question
of the threat, or between Dafense and State, that you encountered?
Gilpatric: Not of a major nature. In the case of the Bay of Pigs, in
which I was not as much involved as McNamara, the Chiefs had major reser—
vations, which went back to the Eisenhower administration days. By the
time we came along the Chiefs accapted the fact that paramilitary planning

vas going to be done by Dick Eissell snd people at the agency [CIA] and

they just sat on tha sidelines. Of courss, latar on, thare was controversy |
on whether the Chiefs should have bsen brought in mora, or whether the
results would have been different if the planning had been handled differ—

ently, But that was the only case whers, as I recall, there was a differancP
between agencies of the govermment in the national security area. j
Matloff: let me turn to the queetion of strategy aod strategic plauning, f
I know that you have long had an intarest in thie area. Do you recall ?
your attitude roward suclear weapons, strategic and/or tactical, in

terms of buildup and use, when you came into offica? The whole queetion

14
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of what the stratsgy should be was apparsutly one of the quastions which
arose almost immediately.
Gilpatric: ZRarly on both McNamara and I arrived indapecdently st a con-

clusion which I had, and he may have had befors he came to the Pentegon.

Our initial reaction to strategic doctrins v-au to shift from mutual
assured destruction to flexible response. The latter doctrine had been
writtan about and discuseed by Gameral Taylor before he rejoined the
admingistration. Senator, and later President, Kannedy was faniliar with

it, Thare was not much argument about that. There was & feeling on the

pert of many of us, including myself, that so-callsd tactical nuclear
whapous uoum Teally have the same effect, if used, as strategic weapous.
As I often gaid in public, and in congressional hearings, I balieve that
once & miclear weapon, whether it be & so-called tactical wespou, a

theater weapon, intermediate range weapon, or even atcaic demolition

weapon, were detounated, we'd be in & muclear exchange, and thersfora I

didn't draw any strategic difference between the two classes of weapons,

Matloff: How about on the counter-force vs countar-city doctrine?
Gilpatric: | In my own thioking, the ides of fighting a nuclear war never
tock any root in ay mind, 1 should say that most of the positions on
strategic doctrine which were enunciated during the Kenoedy sdministration
came from Secretary McNamsra in his speeches, for example, in Michigan,
Canada, and elsevhere., I saw the drafts of those speeches and we discussed
poluts in them. But McKamsra took tha lsad in formulating the doctrinass i

iavolving strategic weapous that evolvad during the Kennedy administration.

15
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Matloff: How about on such matters as a limited war option for the
President and counterinsurgency planning? Did you get ifuvolved with thosa?
Gilpatrict I was partficularly involved in the eounurinsnrgency' planning,
bacauss st Rodert Kennedy's suggestion the Presideut set up the counter-
insurgency group, of which I was the raprasentative from the Secretary
of Defense's office, Gen Taylor for tha Joint Chiefa, aud Averell Harriman
or Alexis Johnson from State, as well aa Kennedy himself, the hesad of
the CIA, end Mac Bundy. 5o I was daeply
involved in counterinsurgency planning and the various initiatives which
were undertsken. When it came to :o-calh_é limited war efforts, we did,
of course, proceed on the assumption that the United States might have to
engage in two and one—half ware st the same time: a major war on the
European contineut, & major war in the Par East, and then some lasser
scale engagement in the Middle Rast or elsevhers. So in our planning
We ware sttampting to provide tha services with the capabilities to taks om
that range of contingeunciss.
Matloff: Broadening the range of optiona?
Gilpatric: Right.
Matloff: How ebout the relationship between the cost analysis techniques
of the analysts-~Enthoven's analysts sud so-called "whiz kida"--and the
strategic analysis approach of the Joint Staff? Did 3‘mu See any role for
systens analysis and cost effective techoiques in relation co strategy?
Any strengths or wesknesses of systens analysis in this counection?
Gilpatric: My connection with that activity and that approach started
when I recommendad to Mr. McNamara thet Charlie Hitch be chosen as the
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Assistant Sscretary of Defanss, Comptrollsar, Once Hitch and McNamsra came
to know each othar and McNamars urgsd Hitch to bring on board the Rowsos
and the Enthovens and the other “whisz kids™, that sres became a major
praocccupation of McNamara himself. 1 was not as directly involved in
that as 1 was in soms othsr matters. The whole avolution of tha planning,
budgeting, and programmiog that evolved in the course of ths next two years
was largely the brainchild of McRemars and Hitch and their respactive
associates. Y was completaly amenabls and supportad it, but I cannot
clain sany part in cresating it.

Matloff: In your viaw, what were the major changes that the Kennedy
administration brought ianto the field of strategy?

Gilpatric: First of all, there was a major issue between the White House
and the civilian leadership of the Pentegon, on the one hand, and the
services snd tha Joint Chiefs, on the other, of the buildup in strategic
weapons. Ve found, shortly after we came into office, that the position
which Senator Kennsdy had takea during the campaign, that there was »
nissile gap in favor of the Soviet Union, turned out to be the opposite.
Nevertheless, thers was great pressure, both by the Navy with the Poseidon
program and the Afxr Yorce with the Minuteman program, to build up our
arsenal of strategic weapous. One of the major issues that went to the
President was how many of esch of thase weapons, submarine~based nissiles
and sir«dalivared missiles, were to ba procured. I am sorry to say that
we went along with tha thousand unit Minuteman program, which, in the

1ight of hindeight, 1 think was far more than vas oeeded.
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Matloff: Since we've touched on the “missile gap”, can you account for
how thiq'tm about in the first place? for its rise and demise?
Gilpatrict The way I accounted for it then-—and now—is that, in ana~
lysing tha testimony of Sacretary Gates and others of his colleaguss
bafore cougrpssional comaittaes in the years 1960 and prior, thare was a
lot of talk about what Soviet intentions and potential might be. The
impression which those of us on the outside working with Senator Kennedy
and preparicg his cswpaign materiala came to was that tha actuality on
tha part of the Soviet Union was equal to‘ite intentions and potantial,
whareas it turned out that it hsd a handful-~1 think it was seven—oper-
ational ICBMas. We had 40, vhereas we had assumed that they had at least
as many, if not more. It was not an issue that was fabricated, It was
@ case of no ne on the U.S. side knowing spacifically. But we ware
planning for greater strength in that area than the Soviet Union had
actually attsived. Ouce we were esatiefied by satellite recounalssance
and other intelligence that that was wrong, McNamara in effect 'blurted X

out, much to the discomfiture initially of the President's assistants,

Matloff: Where ware the intelligence figurea coming from, Air Force? CIA?

or Yoth? Do you recall?

Gilpatric: That was ona area that we found unsatisfactory whan we canme

into offica. The Defense Department was not gecting the kind of iantelligence

estimates that it needed from the CIA. As I recall it, Sherman Kent had
left tha sgency, and the caliber of the national iotelligence estimates

initially was certainly not what McHamara and others of us wvanted., It
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was not until McCone took over from Allen Dulles that we begau to upgrade
that form of intelligence. In the meanti{ime, the service intelligence
views more or leas reflected the desirss of the particular gervices.
Until the Defense Intelligence Agency was formed and the service intelli-
gence estimstes wera subordinated to that kind of discipline, we got »
very mnixed bag in the way of military intelligence.

Matloff: Ou thas question of interssrvice rivalry-—a perennial occupation
or preoccupation in ths Pentagon——do you recall the impact during your
tanure of that competition on policies, programs, operations? Was this

rivalry a serious problem for you?

Gilpatric: It certainly was, in the case of McHamars and me, over the TFX.

In fact, I was very badly wounded because of my prior connection with Ganeral

Dynamics, which was later clsimed was not sufficiently disclosed at the
time of my confirmation, eveun though I stood out of the decision by
Secratary McNamara to go ahead with the TFX. But the Navy wvas bittarly
opposed to the whole concept of commonality. It arose not only over the
TFX but also in the case where I overruled the paval ataff position on
the VTOL, the vertical riser aircraft. The Secretary of the Navy dis-
qualifiad hinself becauss ha had been involved with Bell, coe of the
contenders for that program. I took over and made s decision in which I
rejected the Navy's choice of Douglas and diracted that the procurement
be placed with Bell. That led to & congressionsl investigation 1o which
I was severely criticized and all the Navy brass testified against me.

Then, also, with the Air Forca we had a sexies of issues over such things
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#s canceling the B-70, canceling Skybolt, canceling ths nuclear powerad
sircraft project, and, later on, the mobile Minuteman concept. 5o we
had a seriss of issuee with both those servicas~-not so much with the

Aray, but with the Ravy and the Alr Force--ovar weapons procuremsnt.

Matloff: What did you snd the Secretary of Defeuss do, or could you do,

to mitigate the competition? Was thers anything that you lﬁriad te do to

softan these rivalries?
Gilpatric: We tried, for example, in the case of the space program. We
felt that tha Havy and the Air Force should both ba procseding along

parallel lines, so early on we issued an Exacutive Order giviug the Air '
Porce that particulsr mission. On the other hand, we weunt ahead with
Bost paval programs when it came to shipbuilding or sea~based missiles.

I must say that during the year that he was in office, befors ha resigned

to run for Governor of Texas, Secretary Connally was vory helpful in

naintsining a good working relationship with the Navy brass. Of course,
the first outright cleavage with the Navy brass ogeurmd during the
Cuben missile crisis in 1962. . !
Matloffs Do you recall any change fu the fundamentsl roles and aisaions !
of the services before you left the post?

Gilpatric: No, other than the fact that we put more emphasis on the

views of the commands—unified and specified commsnds. We tried to bring [
their heads into the planning process. We tried to reach, through General

Taylor, an accommodation when isesues cams up. We did succesad, largely,

I think, by reasoning, psrsussion, and Presidential support, in avoiding
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sny major breaks that surfaced. Xarly on, we did have soma questions of
generals speaking cut without clearing their remarks with the Assistaat
Bscretary of Defense for Public Iuformation. Wa actually forced the
ratiremant of one officer——1 think it was Gen. Trudesauv——who just would wot
go aloug with the prevailing doctrins. But those were isolated instances
that did not veault in any major confroutations with the sarvices.
Matloff: 1 gather from what you said sarlier that you were not drawn in
cousistently on the budget formulation business, and that that was not
your araa. Am I correct in my understanding of that?

Gilpstric: In the planning saction I wae not brought in as much. Whea it
came to actual budget decisioo-making, McNamsrs sand 1 were each given by
Hitch's office (the Comptroller's office) an issue psper. We would go
over it independently and, then, where we differed, McNamara and I would
get together., I 4id participste in tha decisiouv-making processes so far
as tha budgets for 2 particular ysar were concernad, but the long range,
the five-yeer, plauning procsss was dominated by McNamara and Hitch.
Matloff: Was thars any change in the satting of the Defense budget
ceailings in this period? |
Gilpatric: We started out with a basic change ia that there was mo
allocation of a certsin amount of dollars to the Defense Depsrtment as a
whole or to the individual ssarvices and other defanse functions. It wae
up to tha Secretary of Defeuse and his collumi to come up with hudget
proposals. Than wve would sit down with the Director of the Budget and

try to come up with a position which was, to tha greatest sxtent possible,
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agraed upon batwean tha President's dudget office end the Defense Dcpartnmt:,
or at laast to reduce the number of issues to the minimwm, and then takes

those up with the President. We usually went up to Hyannis right after

the Thanksgiviog weskend to lay out thase uonresolved issues to the Presidsnt

bimself.
Matloff: Did the roles of the services in connection with budget formulation
change at all during this period?
Gilpatric: I don't think so. I think that we may have tightened somavhat E
the control over the formulation of services' positions aimply bacause '
the service secretaries, particularly Vance, Zuckert, and Convally, and
later Fred Korth aud Paul Nitze, tended to sound out, iun advance of

taking & service position, what the attituds of the Secretary of Defense |
would be. We tried to anticipate issues bafors thay became hardened ;
positions, and in that way, by giving guidance to the services, they knaw }
much in advance how far they could go in pushing for dafense dollars. :
Matloff: Tat's turn, 1f we may, to the ares of problems and crises, some o;‘.
which you have already touched on. In the case of the Bay of Pigs, i
you've mantioned that the Secretary of Defense had more to do with it |
than yourself. O0f course, there's been 80 much debste and argument |
about the Joint Chiefs of Staff (JCS) role-—ovar whether the JCS were
adequately informed and their views sought. What are your thoughts now i
in retrospsct? What went wrong in handling that operation?
Gilpatric: What went wrong fundamentally was & complete misconception of !

the situation inside Cuba. You can say that it was an intelligence failure. .
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Thare was & lack of understanding throughout our goverament—Stata,
Defensa, a&nd the White House~—of how much support Caatro had among his
paople. But turning from that basic misunderstanding or misconception

to the actual handling of the operation, it is clear in ay mind that the
CIA 1s ot capable of deeling with parsmilirsry oparations on as large a
scals as was suvisaged at any stage during the Bay of Pigs. Cartain

kinds of covert operations involving paramilitary personmel can he land_lcd

by the agency, or could bs in that setting, but in my view the CIA peopla

wers way over their heads. They should have turned more to the services
and to the Joint Chiefs for mora than junt'n sort of a second look at a
plan after it had beemn formulated and when it was pretty much set. The
Chic-tn were rsally not given much voice othsr than comsent on Dick Bissell's!
operational plans. .’
Matloff: Was this by Prasidentisl wish? :
Gilpatric: I don't koow to what extent Ptuideut Eisenhower was directly i
iavolved in the Bay of Pigs planuing. ;'
Matloff: How about Kennady? |
Gilpatric: Kennady came into it unprepared, rather late in the planning
procesa. Since I was uot directly involved to the axtent of sttending
White House mmetiugs, ny impression was that it was not a well structured,
well organized effort. In the final analysis, the planning was left to i
Allen Dulles and Dick Bissell. Ouly when the question of how much of an ‘
air strike should be mounted by the services in support of the CIA invasion !

efforte did the Prasident and his pecple get into it directly. It was !
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Matloff: lat's turn to one that I know you wers involved in, the Cuben
mizsile crisis. How did you first learn, do you recall, that a crisis
was brawing?

Gilpatric: Yes., I was having dinosr on Monday night, 12th of Octobar,
in Gevarsl Taylor's quarters, aand Alexis Johnson was thara. In the
course of the svening, about 9:30, Genaral Taylor got a call from the
head of the Defeanse Intelligence Agency, who uiud if be could coms
ovar, since he had some very importaat intelligence. 5o he cama over,
and he showed us tha first pictures that wers taken during the break in
the weather over Cuba. Then McNamars was phoned, Mac Bundy was phoned ,
and sometime during the night, or early in the morning, Mac Bundy informed
the Presidsnt. The next step was meeting in McNamsra's office early
Tuasday msorning, followed by a meeting at the White House later that
morning. That was the order of events, a8 I recall them, at the start
of the crisis after we got the pictures.

Matloff: Do you recall what course of action you recommendad when it was
clear that the Soviets had placed offensive missiles in Cuba?
Cilpatric: McNamara end I both agreed from the beginning that the use
of raw military power should be limited to the extent possible. We
wars, I suppose, in the jargon that was subsequently used, “doves®,
rather than "hawks”. Whereas people, like Acheson, Mac Bundy, Paul
Nitza, _md the Chisfs themselvem, were all fu favor of using, to the

axtent required, military force to go in and seize ths mites and ovarcome
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vhatever opposition there was, we took ths other viaw: that we ghould use
the minimum amount of force. Actuslly, at lunch one day——I guess it

waa Wednesday or Thursday of that first week—McNamara and I wargamed
the whole question and came up in our minds with the idez of a naval
quarantine, MNcNamarz was the first to preas that idea on the so-called
EXCOMN group that was meeting in State every day.

Matloff: Do you recall why President Kenoedy relled on the EXCOMM group,
rather than the NSC itself, during this criasis?

Gilpatric: Apparently on the morning he was told by Mac Bundy, the
morniog of the 13th, of the presence of the missile fnstallations, he
gave Mac s liast of the pecople that he wanted to work ou this problem.

He naned those with whom he had been working during the past year and a

. R e

half or so. It was & purely arbitrary persounal decision co his part. 1
mean that he brought in, for example, Secretary Dillon, Secretary of the
Treasury. BHe initially brought me in. He did oot bring in Paul Nitze
until iater. He limited his own staff. Schlesingsr was not involved.
Ted Soreason and Mac Bundy were. The sawme appliad to State. He relied
very heavily on Bohlen and on Thompsou as former Ambassadors to the
Sovist Unfon. But it was an ad hoc personal decision; it was not based
on any organizational concept.
Marloff: Am I correct in understanding that there was mot a strict
division between civiliana and military on this committee as to what to
do? that the division was not along military/civilian lines?
Gilpatric: That is right; although the only military man who was involved
on a day-to-day basis was Censral Taylor. Toward the end the Chiefs
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ingisted on access to the President, which he rightfully gave them. But,
of courss, be overruled them. Gansral LeMay was all for a major boabing
attack on Cubs, as he had been in Vietnam. The President did mot go i
along, but he heard him out.

Matloff: Were you and Secretary McNamars informed of the Joint Chiefs of
Staff views before the BXCOMM meetings? Did Gen Taylor keep you abreast

of the opinious of the JCS?

Gilg_a_trip.: YTes. We had early on established a practice {n the Defense
Department of caucusing in McNamara's office before every White House
appaarauce that any of ue undertook. If, say for example, Nitze asnd I
or Bill Bundy and I were going along with McNamaras and General Taylor,
we would get together in McNamara's office. Taylor would report the
state of opinions in the Joint Chiefs, and we would come up with what we
hoped was & consensus to be expressed by McNamara. That did mot mean

that ths President wasn't free, as he often did, to say to one of uas,

"Ros, what do you think?” “Paul, what do you think?" “Max, what do you
think?™ But unlike the practice in State, whare nobody rehearsed positions

beforshand and sll came in and spoke up along different lines, the Defense
Departsent had a departmental position before we came across the river,
Matloff: Was it ever an embarrassment that you had a alightly different
point of view from the Sacretary?
Gilpatric: We just accepted the position that, to be halpful to the
President, we should try to develop a unified position. I do not recall
iny case where any one of w felt so strongly in cur differences froa
McNamars that we ought to speak up, Whan it came to the interchange
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of thoughts at the NSC neetings, or EXCOMM meetings, it would often develop §
that Paul Nitze, for example, was much sore of a hardiiner than I was, |
of McNamaras was. But I don't recall any case where the President was

faced with having to chooss between two conflicting Defense points of

view, We resolved thoas bafore we weat ovar. ;
Matloff: Let me ask about lessous learned from this operstion., First of
sll, d4id you come away with any laprassions of what it was like to deal
with the Soviets and of how to deal with the Soviets?

GCilpatric: Lat me fnterject here that my only direct contact with repre- i
sentatives of the Soviet Union, other than sesing Ambasssdor Dobrynin

around Washington, was whan I was sant, along with George Ball and Jack
HeCloy, to sit down with Kusznetzov and try to get the Soviet Union to ¢
agree to taka the IL 28s out of Cubs. This was after the missiles were i
shipped out, when thess tactical bombers were still down there. I mat for I
thrae days across the table from the Russian representatives, and I learnad i
at first hand how difficult it is to deal with the Soviet Union fnee--tov-faca.!
S0 my conclusion was that, first of all, get all the Kremlinologists |
you can to counsal you, whether it's & Bohlen, a Thompson, & Tyler,

or vhosver; sacondly, to use a8 much time as circumsstances would allow.
Ona of the reasons I think the misaile crisis came off ans well as it did _
was that we did not have to make split sscond dacisions., We had time to :
argue out the {ssuas amongst ourselves and to come up with a ressouned, |

considered, well thought out, wall debated conclusion.
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Matloff: Do you fasl that the national security apparatus worksd
affectivaly during this crisis?

Cilpatric: Yes, I do, both from the standpoint of the structurs of the
systam and of the personalities., 1 think that you can have a case whare
you have more personmel problems than we had, where either on the civilisn
or the military side psople don't work togather as well as we did. That
is always an issue. You can hawve Lt in a law firm. You can have it in

a university, ag you well know, as well ss in govermmant.

Matloff: Why did it work bettar in the cass of this operation than in

the cass of the Bay of Pigs?

Gilpatric: Tha reason the Cuﬁaa aissile crisis was handled better,
certainly in the light of hindsight, than the Bay of Pigs, was first of
all, those of us who had responsibiities in deeling with those two situa~
tions had gotten to know each other. We had been in office for nearly

two years. Ve had been through our shakedown cruises and we came to

trust and have coufidence and understanding of each other. I would say that
was ths mumber one reason.

Matloff: In terms of the Russiazn retreat, would you hazard a guess or =
reflection as to what you think msde XKhrushchav yic;d in that crisis——
conventional weapons, possible use of air etrike, nuclesr weapons, or what?
Thare has been a lot of dic;unaion about this, as you know, after the
event,

Gilpatric: My hypothesis is that, first of all, Xhrushchev realized

that dealing with an island ninety ailes off the coast of the territorial
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Unitad States, the Russizns ware at a vary savers handicap logistically,

if it came to open confrontation. Secondly, I think he realisad that at that
Juncture the Soviet Union's strategic capabilitiss ware inferior to those

of the United States. So he had two haundicaps wit‘h.vhich to coatend, and by |
that tims hs had lsarned, sincs his mseting with Kenmady in Visaone in June ofi
1961, that Xennedy was & mors ssazsoned nationsl leader. EKennedy bad unableid a
good team of colleagues around him, and there weren't any targets of ;
opportunity for the Russians to seek out in our internsl defense atructure. |
Matloff: To rsturn to Laos sand Vietnam, what was your attitude toward }
our involvement in Indochina? Did you ftollthnt our sscurity interests,
our nationsl interests, were involved? Did you believe in the domino
thaory?

Cilparric: 7First of all, T accepted tha fact that, going back, I guess,
to the days of Pranklin Roosevelt, certainly to the Eisenhowsr days, we

ware involved, for better or for worse, in Indochina and Southeast Asia.

In the case of Laos, it was vary unclear to me just what our strategic
interests were, other than the iampact of a takeover of Laos by the communists
ou Thailand, South Viatnam, and Cambodia. 80 1 started out with a feeling
that we could not overlook the problem. We could not just pull out; we |
had to fashion scme course of sction. In the case of Laos, there was a

sajor division smong the Chiefs as to what we should do. Sowme of them

wete vary much opposed to putting in more of a U.S5. pressncs, more U.S.
forces. Others felt that we should, and different kinds of forces.

After that famous mesting at the White House, during which the President
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got five different points of viaw from the Joint Chiefe of Staff, he
dscided that in the future he would just have the Chairman in, and not
all the Chiefs. In the case of Vistnanm, as I have said, we vers somewhat
taken by surprise by the rise in tensions, the riots, and all the jnternsl
problams that came upou us sc gquickly thers in rtha sarly part of ‘61,
because President Eisenhower and his advigers had not stressed that area
as being as problem-prone as it turned out to be. The major iamue that
developed in the task forca that I headad was to what extent we would
sugaent the some 1600-man presence that we had in Bouth Vietnem. After
AAny argumants swongat oursslves, whan wa t'lporud to the President in
May-—~1 think it was late April or May of that ysar—we made cartain
racomaandations: not of combat forces, not of uniformed military people

from the combat ranks, but enlarging our military assistance peraonmal,

sending out training groups to help the Vietnamese organige their provincial

units, the home gusrds, and the like, Even there we ran into prasidential
reluctance. President Kennady had an instinct, which he manifested from
the bagivcuing of the whole Vietnam problem, sgainst committing more U.S.
presence there, Ele resisted that right up to the end, although by the
time of his death we had, 1 gusss, some 16,000 U.3. personmel thers.
Matloff: Why did the goveroment rely on nagotiation f{u the case of Laos,
and some kind of military presence in the case of Vietosn? The handling
of those two seeas to have been different.

Gilpstric: 1In the case of Lsos, you did uvot have Ho Cht Minh and

Ganeral Giap, who were determined to taks over South Vietnam. In the
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case of Lsos, you had the Pathet Lao, Prince Souvanum Phouma, and then

General Phoumi. It was mors of a& localiszed conflict. Sure, it wvas aided,

asbatted, and supported by both the Chinese comsunists and tha Soviet Uniom, ;
but it never was as much of a major cockpit of forces as Viatnam turnad i
out to be, with i{nfiltration from the north, Ewen during my time there, tndl
I left in January ‘64, before it became an all out w& situstion, but sven
in the earlier years, it was evident that we were not going to get away
with soms Gansva nagotiation in which we could parcal sut alements of |
power smong differsnt factions within a country. It was a question reslly |
of s takeovar by tha North Viatnamese of the South Vietnamese with |
which wa had to coantend.
Matloff: 1 take it, then, that OSD was involved in both of these crisis
situations, both Laos and Vietnam, from the moment you got into office. |
Gilpatric: I should say that McNamars took an increasingly dominant
role, more so thao would normally ba expectead of a Secretary of Dafense,
particularly during the period when it was as m;ch a political as a |
mnilitary issus, but McNamara was sent out to Vietnam a number of times
during 62 and '63, and he became the President's principal adviser,
rather than Dean Rusk——not that thare was a great division betwean thenm, |
alithough over such matters as the coup that overthrew Diem thers were j
differences between Dafense and Stata, |
Matloff: 1 was going to ask you about that overthrow. Wers you
surprised when the coup against Diem occurred?
Gilpatric: I was surprised over the sssassination, of the axecution of
Diem anud his dbrother-in-law. 38y the time the uctual coup took place it
3



[ B L L . . 13

i ifled
Page determined to be Unglass
Rzgiewed Chief, RDD, WHS
1AW EO 13526, Section 3.5

B MAY 13 2013

was pretty svident to us that Diem could oot survive. I had been very

reluctant to undercut Diem. Back in August, during that famous weekend when!

and, I gusss, Hilsman and some others in State came up with this massage

to Lodge. When I wes called, late Sunday night at home, by Mike Forrestal ,

with the Prasident, McNamara and Rusk away, Mike Forrestal, Avarell lu::.':l.mm4i
i
|

I was told that the President had approved this. George Ball was told
the same thing. When I finally resched Ganaral Taylor, who was haviag

dinner at a restaurant i{m Washington, he also had been told by his aides

that this message bad been spproved. It turnad out that the Prausident
was toly;ing on those of us who were occupylng the acting Chief jobs to
spprove. The whole incident that MNonday morning turoed out to be, I
think, at the very least a misundarstanding. But the message had gone
forward. Lodge himself apparently hed lost confidence in Diem. So X
was not greatly surprised when Diem was forced out.

Matloff: Hsd you met up with Diew?

Cilpatric: KNo. I never went to Vistnam. Mr. McNamara msde all the
trips out there during ny time.

Matloff: Would you ventura an opinion as to what the consequences of

Diem's death were in the terms of subsaqueat American iavolvemsnt?

Gilpatric: I think it made more Inevitgble the growth of that favolvement,

although one of the last things that President Kannedy said to McNamara
and me was that he wanted to plan to withdraw some of thosse 156,000 U.S8.

perscnnel that were {n Viatuss in tha fall of '63. His ifnstinet all

along was to resist expsnding and, if possible, ro reduce cur involvement

k 4
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in that area. People can argus, of course, what he really would have
done or ilatended to do 1f he had lived, but certainly his instructions to
McNamara snd to me were very clear: that he wanted us to pull dback rather
than to go forward at that junctura.

Matloff: Do you recall the basis for the feeling of American officisls
in 1963 that tha Amerfcans would be af»h to end the military role by
1963. This comes out in General Taylor's writings.

Gilpatric: Yes, Up to ths time that I left office on the 20th of January
1964, there uriuuly vas & sense in the Pentagon that the gensrals who
had taken over from Diem could somehow sstablish authority, maintain
control over South Vietnam, and resist the encroachments from the Noxth,
From that point on, the situation got worse, but T did not have first hand
access bacause I was not there.

Hatloff: Did you get involved, along with Secretary McNamaras, in the
problem of the press in Vietnam? Was the reporting coming out of Vietnam
objectiva, fair, and the like, and what, if snything, could the Defense
Dapartasnt de about 1it?

Gilpatric: That had not become as much of a burning i{ssue when I left as
it did later. I happen to know many of the correspondents who were out
in that area, particularly Davie Halberstam, who was a personal friend of
mina. I vever falt that the press coverage was badly distorted or
ovardona,. It is ona of thoss queastions that is going to be debated and
written about for years. Particularly in the light of Crenada, many

invidious comparisons will be drawn.
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Matloff: Let me ask you to taske a long look at the whole Vietnam upotiami
and ssek your opinion as to why we failed, if you think we failed, in the
long run. ‘

Gilpatric: I definitely think that we failed. My basic comclusion is that !
we did not understand Vietnam's history, culture, and psychology. We

Just did mot koow with what we were dealing. We could not communicate.
We seut out the bast we had. Hanry Kissinger was there for ﬁeh on
end, and we revolved commanders and personmel. With all of that, I
don't think that we had a comprahension of how the Vietnamese ninds I
worked, of how they would react. Alse, we 'are mot very good, io my !
opinion, at counterinsurgency. I think thet all our -il:lury planning

has bean based on a concapt that we would have snother World War Il—type ]

situstion and that we would have all kinds of organizaed brigades,
and divisions and fight a coonventional war, rather than combating the kind {
of infiltration, tcirolutlomy movemauis, and wars of libaratfion that l
Ehrushchev tslked about in his January '61 speech. We just were not wp

to coplog with that kind of situstion in my opinion.

Matloff: How about the factor of American public opinfion and the protrnctndl

I
|
Gilpatric: That is another factor that the American people do not understand~~

linited war?

why the US anilitary superiority, or military power, whether it's superior

or not, cAnnoOt eor.:cludu things and tidy things up mofs quickly. I don't !

thick that there is great sympathy for the problem, as we sea it today E

in Lebanon. I think that holding popular support in any kind of protrsected E

operation that does not reach the lavel of outright war is goiag to be a '
34 ;
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rucurring problam.

Matloff: Before I leave the crisis asreas, I should at least touch om

Berlin, Were you drawn in at all on the Barlin crisis at the end of 19617

Gilpatrict That was handlad primarily by Paul Nitze, He was on the
working group that met rsgularly aud came up with the plaus. While I

vas kept posted, T did not participate directly in that process.

Matloff: How about arms control and disarmament? You have meationed the
limited test ban treaaty. What role did you play in connsaction with that
and ia conmaction also with the attempt at the comprehensive tast ban
treaty?

Gilpatric: My first conmection with the whole matter of arms control

and arms limitation started at the very beginaing of the Keooady adninis~
tration, when I was chosen to be the Defeuse witness ou the passage of
the arms control and disarmament act and setting up ACDA [Arms Control
and Disarmament Agency]. I also spent a lot of time with the Joint
Chiafs to get them to sand over to ACDA some really top lavel types of
military parsonmel, not somebody vho was about to retire or who did not
have much influence or clout in the military establishment. In other
words, I was very such in favor of our increasing our efforts at reaching
some 30rt of an accommodation with the Soviet Union. I did not go to

Moscow, John McNaughton was the representative of the Defense Department

vho accompanied Averell Harriman., But I did participate in the discuselons }

with the Joint Chiafs that 1 mentioned earlier, when we tried to gt them

to come ocut, vis~a-vis the Congress, with a unified support of the Prasidential

k
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position. I was alsc chosen to be a spokesman for Prasident Kennedy's
point of view that weapons of mass destruction ahould not be utilized in
space. I gave a spsech at the Air Force Academy in the sunmer of ‘63, I
guess it was, in which I made that position clear, and I had previously
bad the White House go over the language that I used.

Matloff: In talking to Mr. McCloy, I had the impression, rightly or

wroogly, that hs felt that after the Keunedy adainistration got into of fice,

it woved rather slowly in pushing for the dissrmavent agency, thst he had to

orchestrate the whole movement of people who, like himself, felt thet it
vae very important. Does that jibe with your impression?

Gilpstrict I should say that Mr, McCloy aund I are old friends, His
office is right downstairs. I used to work for him, He was a partner
in this fira for many yesrs. He and I testified together om ACDA. Y
thiok that he felt, as chairman of the General Advisory Coomittee, that
things were not moving as fast as he would have wished. But the Kennedy
sdnintstration had some hard knocks aheaad of it, first the Bay of Pigs,
thea the mounting Vietnam problem, and then the Berlin crisis. So things
did not move as fast as McCloy would have liked, but I am not aware of
the fact that in the end he disagreed with or disapproved of the Kennedy
adminiatration's attitude toward srms control,

Matloff: On military/industrial relations=~I know that you have had quite
& role in this ares~-you recall President Eisenhower's warning toward

the very and about the military/industrial complex. Did you share that

concarn of hia?
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Gilpatric: Very much so. I would expand his term to say sﬂitary/iuduntrid%
and cougressional complex. I think that it is & three~headed affair. I
lsarned sarly on, wvhen I was dealing with congressional staffe, the fact
that, I would say, 90 percent of the staffs of the armed services committee
and the military appropriations committees are mnrﬁ officers in one
of tha services. So they have & built-in bias, since thay are on the
payroll of ths servicas. Then, you hsve the closa rulations between the

|
dafense industry and the procurement officials in the services. HMcHsmara i
{

and I did form, and wers very active in establishing, the kind of nlnt:lonsh:l})
with the defense industry whera we had all the cards on the table. We |
established the Defense Logistics Agency, and then wa also astablished

the Defense Industry Association, over which I presided. Ve were constantly

dealing with repressntatives of defense industry sud rrying, particularly

vhen it came to cost sffectivensss, to deal with the problems that still
plagus us today oun spares, specifications, and the like.

Matloff: Was there any fundamental change in procurement paolicy made ;
while you were there?

Gilpatric: The Defenses Supply Agency was estabiished and did tske over.

I think thst Tom Morris, the Assistant Secretary of Defense for Logistics,
maintained 2 closer watch over production procurecent than existed haretofore.
Harold Brown as Director of Defense Research snd Enginsering certainly

strangthenad the role of his office in that arsa. 1 would say that, gen—

erally speaking, tha office of the Secretary of Defense injected itself
wmora into day-to-dsy planming, decision making, and weapons procurement, |
as well as developmsnt, than heretofore had been the case.

k¥ i
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Matloff: I gather that very sarly you developed an interast in the uroopaqiu
industry and technology, and in their importance tc defenss. Am I correct ,
in that? i
Gilpatric: Yes. 1 think that it derived from the fact that Cens Zuckert, .’
the Secretary of the Afir Force, had been a colleague of mine during the :
Trumsan administration, and the fact that Hal Brown had come to the Dafense ,
Department from Sandis, and Charlie Hitch from the Rand Ct:rpontiou-—peoplaf
who were thoroughly counversant with the issues in this whole ares of
asrospace development and procurement. This ares also interested McNamara
& great deal, because he had seen, duriog his days in the sutomotive
industry, a lot of the developments that later om took form.

Matloff: Tha charge has been made at least in some quarters, as you

koow, that Mr. McNamara sacrificed morale and personal relstiocus for

efficlency asnd ewift decisfon-meking, and shrugged off military tradition

and even advice. Is that charge, in your opinion, fair?

Gilpatric: I do not think that it is fair. 1 think that it is overstated.
There 19 no question that McNamara was a very incisive, no-nonsense kind

of Defense Secretary. He made decisions very easily and very qu:lciﬁly.

It discomfited the Chisfs or other service persounel, who came in with
an elaborate visual presentation, to have him cut through and get to the !
questions that wers important before they had gone through their whole
set of motions. Also, at the end of a session over some matter of Ravy i
procurement or of Air Force devalopment, he would write cut hig decinion

in long hand on a yellow pad, and then have his mmcretary duplicate it f

k1
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and hand it to the meu. The military were used to having a longer process,
more deliberation, and usually having the matter refearred by the Secretary qf
Defeuse to some subordinate; not so with McNamara. And, of course, ha did |
clash with leMay and Anderson, He was unot a parson to mince words or to
try to gloss over the realities. He was a tough individual, snd I think

that rubbed the military the wrong way. 3But he did not consciously set

out to burt people or to sxpose raw nerves. 3BHe Ls really a very compas~
sionate man by nature.

Matloff: On the quastion of your perspectives on 0SD organization and
management-—as 4 result of your experiencs and subsaquent reflection,
what do you feel the role of tha Desputy Secretary of Dafense should be?
Is he primarily & msnsger? sn analyst? You have used the term "alter ago”
in your own case. How 40 you see the major functions of the Depury?
Gilpstric: I see them, colorad parhaps by my own exparience and by my
cown profassional career, as, as I put {t, being the junior partuer to the
sanior partner. 1 believe that the deputy should be versed, across the
board, in the problems and respousibilitiss that the Secretary of Defense
has, so that he can slways step in aud oot just be in the wings somewhere,
waiting to be called. I think that to assign, as Secretary Weinberger
has done with both Frank Carlucci and Paul Thayer, primarily the procuramnq
job, is wot the wisest use of manpower. McNamara would mever have done i
it. He regarded that as a natter we jointly should do, snd in the end ,
he made tha decisions, as he should as & nmatter of law and practice, I

would keep the deputy's rola as one of a generalist, of being available
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in all aress, of being versed and experiencad, and of dealing with what-
sver came up, as & junior partnar and the altar ego for the Secretary.
Matloff: I take it from what you said earlier that you may have
- changed some of your viaws about DoD orgsuization as a result of your
experience in 0SD, after your service on the Symington committss. Would
you want to slaborate a litcle on that?

Gilpatric: My initial thought was that rather than having the secrataries
of the Army, Navy and Afr Porce, you would have under secretaries in
charge of the functions of the services. I never suggested dolog away
with the services, just with the departmsutal structure. But, in the
light of ay three years of exparisuce, I came to see that, whatever you
call them, whether you call them the Secretary of the Air Force or the
Under Secretary of Defense for Air, you need the kind of expertise and
assistance that those officimls furnish. Since it is so important to

the esprit de corps of the services that they do have their own department
2nd that thay do have their separate but equal existence for their tradi-
tions, I would not disturb that, as long ae you have a strong Secretary
of Defense who can control the service secrataries. That {s not always
easy to do. You read today about the problams batween Secretary Lehnan
of the Navy and Paul Thayer, the Deputy Secretary of Defenas. We did

not happen to have that problem in my time. But there you get iato
personalities. I think that as long as the Secretary of Defanse has
under one name, one form or another, a team of people~~it may be bigger

or smaller, at a particulsr time—there must be a span of control. I

40

o R T



Wt e o e ege it e ok AR R AT L

Page determined to be Unclassified
Reviewed Chief, RDD, WHS
AW EO 13526, Section 3.5

U MAY 13 201
don't think that you can have an umlimited mumber of deputies snd under
sscretarias avd sssistant secretarias and still be effective. McNamara
maintained relations with probably tan or tw;ln key people in the Defense
Dapartment. Maybe today it takas more; maybe ir does not; maybe it
nssds less. But I would not change the legislative structure.
Matloff: How sbout the notion of = single Chief of Steff, a single Chief
of the services, do you see a need for that?
Gilpatrict I have testifiad at length before the House committee whosa
work resulted in legislation this fall on that subject. I do think that

thers is fuhareot conflict in the two~hatted character of the Joint Chiefs.

I hava written articles, testiffed, and epoken about it. I would rather
see the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs be, in affect, the single instrument
in the line of command from the Prasident and the sqmutu"y of Defanse
down to the commanders of the unified and specified commands. I think
the Chairman of the Joint Chiefs needs advisers from the three ssrvices,
whather incumbsuts or retired ofﬁceru. I think 1t is f{wmportant that

the chairman have that, as ha would have under this legislation. But
whatever changes take place in the law, whether this legislation that

has psssed the House pasmses the Senate sud is aigned by the President, I
think it is important to sohance the authority of the Chalrman so as to
have quicker and more effective control over the commands and the services
than through & committee~type structure with two~hatted members.

Matloff: BHow sbout the relations between the Secratary of Defense snd the
Joint Chiefs~-do you see need for changes in either working relations or

structurs at that level?

41
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Gilpatric: No. I would prefer to go bsck from what I perceive to be the i
present practice of having quite a staff around the Secretary of Defense
to the condition that axistsd in uy time, which was, as I have said, that
tha Becretary of Defense and the Deputy Secrstary had no staff other than
ailitary aides, and turned sither to the ssrvices or to the Joint Staff
for whatever staff sssistance they maeded. I think that thare should be
direct contact batween the Secretary of Defense and his Deputy and the

Joint Chiefs, and particularly with the Chairman, on a day-to~day basis

without the intervention of staff.

MatloZf: What was the basic philosophy, would you say, behind the drive
to centralize decisiomr-making in DoD during your tenure?

Gilpatric: X don't recall having articulated or seen articulated any par— |
ticular philosophy. I think that McNamsra, having arisen to be the Pretid«n%
of & large industrial organization befors he came to Defsnse, had svolved i
his own petrsonal concept of how to rum an organization. Ee belisved in !
much greater direct participation by the Sacratary of Defsuse in day-to~day :'
decisionrnmaking than some of his predecessors did, for example, Secretary
Wilson, Secretary McElroy, and, to some extent, Secretary Gatea, McNamars
wantad tc be iavolved. 1 think that is a matter dapending on the personality
of the particulsr individual. I think that Secretary Lovett was an

extremaly effective Jecretary of Defense, but ba did oot get himself

involved to the extent that McNamars did. And yet, I think they both were
effective~~one delegated more than the others. It is just the nature of i

the individual's own working habits.

42




Page datarmined ta be Unclassified
raviewsd Chief, RDD, WHS
AW BO 13828, Sl%!oﬂ 38

vate: MAY 1

Matioff: Looking back at the whole pericd, at lsast the period when you
werse in the OSD, vhat would you say were the principal managament reforme
fatroduced? You mentionsd the DIA.

Gilpatric: That was pretty much inherited, though. We just went shead
with that. Tha Defense Supply Agsncy was also something which had heen
in the works a long time and was not a vew desparture.

Matloff: How about the unified limited war coumand, the merging of the Army|
and the Air Force elements into a striks command? |
Gilpatric: That was an evolutionary matter. I would not claim credit

on the part of McNamara and myself. I do believe that McNamara's creation
of this whole defanse planning, programming, and budgeting cycle, and

his cost effectivaness progran were major innovations, snd, so far as 1 i

can perceive, they are still to a greatar or lesser degree pressnt. I

think that they wers bound to happen. McNamara introduced them more )
quickly, perhaps, than othars might have done. |
Matloff: May we focus & bit on the parsonalities of the period with whom
you came into contact? Looking back, how would you characterize the '
styla, personalitity, and effectivenese of various Secretaries of Defense,
as well as other top officials with whom you came in contact? If I may,
I'11 mantion names. I'11 start by going back to your earlier experience.
How about Marshall, the Secretary of Defense?

Gilpatrict I wae sworn in by Marshall sud I served under him for six

monthse. I have the gresatest sdmiration for him. He is one of my heroes.

However, he was brought up under a military command systam, whare you
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delagated suthority to the grsatest sxtant possible, and that iz wvhat he
did. Fortunately, he had very capable people-—Censrsl Bradlay, Robert
Lovett, and people like Finletter, Kimbsll, Pace, aad others. 8o he

was abla to delegata and it workad affectivaly, as it did during the
Korean Wer, after Lovett took over,

Matloff: Lovett was next ou my list. Did you have much contact with him,

or did you have any impression of his way of operatingt?
Gllpatric: Very much so, because 1 had kuown him in World War II, when I |
was on some missions, and I knew him during the Korean War. 1 have kspt

up with him. As I ssid to you earlier, he ‘was probably as much responaible !
as anybody for my appointmant as Deputy Secretary by Kennady. He 1s nnoth-ri
one of my beroes. Be was an exceptional, capable, affective official, i
both in the Stste Department and in the Defenwe Department. Keunedy

offered him the Secrataryship of the Treasury, which he turaad down.

Matloff: How about Wilson?
Gilpatric: Wilson, McElroy, and Cates ware oot as well koown to me. 1 l
will only give you as my impressiocn as an outsider during those yesrs |
that it was mors of a hands-off rather than a hands-on operation. They '
were very fine paople. The first two were great successes lo business.

Tom Gates wes a professiounal like myself, albeit a banker. I think that

he grew & lot. Ha started out as Under Secretary of the Navy and was |
there sight years. BHe became a vary capable, fine man. Hs was ot as '
hard driving or as inci{eive as McNamara, but he left the Department in a

very good shape. 1 understand that Xennedy wanted him to stay on, but he |
did not do so.
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Matloff: Is thers snything you want to sdd to your depictioun of McNamara?
Gilpatric:t I regard him as one of the great men I have run into in the
coursa of my life. Whila I know that he has his defects in dealing with
people, a8 I have said sariier, ha is a hard men, a hard taskmaster. He
expacts & lot sud he does mwot suffer fools gladly. You have to be up
esrly in the morning aund stay up late at aight to keep up with him.
Matloff: Let’s take the Joint Chiefs——General Lemuitxzer.
Gilpatric: lemunitzer was 8 splendid officer. He just did not hit it off

a8 wall with either McNamara or President Kennedy as General Taylor did.

I don't think that it is any reflection on Lemnitzer. Tha chamical reaction §

Jusc was not as good. Taylor was ideal, and one of the great military men ofli

our timm, in my opinion.

Matloff: Amcng the sarvice chiefs, Chief of Staff Genaral Wheeler.
Gilpatric: Ceneral Wheeler was a good journeymsn officer. He was nefther
brilliant vor inventive, but he was dependabdble, conscientious, and a

vary, very fine man with whom to work.

Hatloff: Gensral Decker sfore him?

Gilpatric: Geuneral Dacksr was more colorless. He was s product of the

Army promotion system. He never made much of an impact as a chief.

Matloff: On the Air Force side, Geunsral Whits, and, of course, General l.cHnyL

Gilpatric: Both of whom I knew very well because of ay Air Force days.
Gansral White was s man of great intallect, a grest philosopher, s great
analyst. CGenaral LeMay was a ailitary conmander who believed that unless

you had on a uniform, you could unot make decisions involving military
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matters. Hs was very stroug~minded, very difficult to reason with, partly
bacsusa of his hardnese of hearing, but not, in my opinion, & modern day
military lesadsrc.

Matloff: The Chiefs of Naval Operations Burke and Anderson.

Gilpstric: 1 have alrsady commentad on Burks. nurh was one of the
moat able mesbers of the Joint Chiefs until Taylor came along. Admiral
Anderson was a fine officer, I think that he had the misfortune to croas
himself up with McNamara. I was responsible for the President's offering
him tha embaasy st Lisbon, where ha performed very creditably. A very
fine man, he just got off on the wrong foot with McNamara.

Matloff: Did you have much contact with Admiral McDonald toward the end
of your tenure!?

Gilpatric: No, I did not.

Matloff: Secretaries of the Army Stahr and Vance?

Gilpatric: Stahr was a poor choice, as it turned out. Vance was an
axcellant choice. I say that, in spite of the fact that I was responsible
for picking Vance. But whoever told McNamara that Stahr was qualified
was mistaksu in my opinion., He was not up to the job.

Matloff: While we are talking about Vance, your succassor, did you get
much chance to brief him about the job?

Gilpatric: Yas, because the origiunal position for which I recommended
him to McNamara was the Geuersl Counsel of tha Department of Defense.
McNemara early on developed a liking for him, He had confidence in him

and used him on various special missions. When Stahr was retired-was
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Teally forced out=--Vance became Secretary of the Army, Of course, I saw
him on & day-to~day basis, and we had a chance to know sach other vary
vwell. He catried om pretty auch tha way that I had. In the end he was
succeeded by Paul !'H.tu, who was pnother personal friend of mine, We
went to school together many many yesrs ago. So both of my successors,
Vance and Nitze, were people with whom I was closse. While they were
different personalities, I don't think that they operated in amy essen—
tially different way than I had under McNamara.

Matloff: Would you like to sdd anything to your impressions of Secrstary
of Navy Connally and Secretary of Air Zuckert?

Gilpatrict No. Thay both proved to be excellent choices. I was only
sorry that Connally could not stay longer. He managed to work with the
Navy brase and at the same time be responsive to McRamara and President
Kennedy. He did an amsxzing job for one year. It usually takes longer
than & year to get in traction. Geans Zuckert, who had been in the Air
Force during the Korean War and then had been on the Atomic Enargy Com—
mission, was an experienced, skillful, balanced officiasl who worksd very
well, He knew McNawsrs personally, and, of course, also kouew me very

well, We never had any problems.

Matloff: How sbout some of the Presidents that you served? I take it that

your administration came duriug the Truman, the Xennedy, and a bit of the

Johnson periods. How about their styles, personalities, asnd effecti{ivenssa

ag President, in your view?

Gilpatrict In the case of the two that I knew best, Truman and Feuoedy, 1

found my service to be immensely satisfying and gratifying. I felt that
&7
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bacauss of their openmess in dealing with peopls around them, I had a
dirsct, contimuing personal contmct. I must say that I regard tham as
two very fine Prasideats. I did not ses as much of Truman as Kennedy.
Truman had a very small staff, aund, again, had a great affinity for
mumber two people. He had been & mumber two junlor seuater from Missouri;
he had been Vice Prasident. So he was very partial to what he called

the "little Cabinet.” I saw a lot of Truman, as I did of Kevredy.
Johason, as I saw him, wvhen he was majority lmader and chairman of the
Senate Preparedusss Subcommittee during the Korean War, was a real Crar,
and a very strong character. Of course, during his vice presidency, I
gew a good deal of him. He was assigned by President t&nnedy to keep an
eye on space, and with my assigmsent we were in contsct together. Prankly,
I did oot want to serve under him as President, and, with his owm gracious
consent, I left office two months after Kenuedy's death.

Matloff: Let me direct your sttsntion now to the last question. What

do you regard es your major achisvement during your tenure as Deputy
Secretary of Defense? If you had to simgle out one or more specific
achievemsnts of which you were proudest, on what would vou focus?
Gilpatric: I think that the greatest intellectusl sstisfaction I got out
of my service was the fact that both :h; men 1 worked for, McNamara and
Kennady, agreed with me on the limitations on the use of military force

s an effective instrument for maintaining the peace {n this world. In

other worde, 1 nsver was faced with any great quastion of conscience or
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principle in working for those man, bacausa they tendsd, vherever they
could, to diminish raw forca, bruts forcs, as an instrument of policy
making. That was very satiafying to ma not to have to operate agsinst

my own instincts aand ptincipln.'

Matloff:r Wers there any great diuppotntunta-?-mthing that was left
unfinished or undone, or that might have bsen doune differently?

Gilpatric: 1 feel that the expsrience I had in conmction with the TFX
program was not well handled on my part. First of sll, I should have been
much more axplicit during ay hearings and confirmarion as to ay relations
to General Dynsmics. I stated them in substance, but I did not spell them
out. Secondly, I think that I was poorly advised, particularly by the Vice
Prasident, in how I handled the press during the period when the Senate
investigation had begua snd it was clear that we were going to have s
major fight on our hande. I do unot think that I handled that as wall as

I might have, in the light of hiodsight.

Matloff: Is there any question that I should have asked you which I have
mot, or that you would like to direct my attention to, in coanection

with your service in 05D, or the naticnal security apparatus or policy,
beyond any of the matters that we have spoken about this moruning?
Gilpatrict I do not think so. I think your questions are very good. I
would just reitsrate one thought, and that is, I think that the mora £luid
the organizatioval structura is, the more unstructured it is, the better
it is. 1In other words, I think that McNemara's decision mot to have a

lot of meetings with the Armed Forces Policy Council and get averybody
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there, eit arcund, and taks a lot of tims was sound. I think that

dealing on a cus~on-oue basis, tailored to meet & particular situation,

is a much bettar way than a more rigid, stratified kind of structure.

80 I would hope that future Secretaries of Defanss would maintain their
cholce of alternatives in how they run the Department.

Matloff: Thank you very much, Mr. Gilpatric, for sharing your impressions

and recollections with us.
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Dear Dr. Goldberg:
The transcript of my interview with Dr. Matloff
on November 14, 1983 has had my attention and 1 return it

herewith. You will note a few corrections on pages 1, 2,
9, 13, 14, 19 and 25. As to access to my interview when
in £inal form, TwouTd—prefer—category—2—as— T would mot
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